NO. 94084-3

Court of Appeals No. 47861-7-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES,

Petitioner,

v.

POPE RESOURCES, LP and OPG PROPERTIES, LLC,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

EDWARD D. CALLOW
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA No. 30484
P.O. Box 40100
Olympia, WA 98504-0100
(360) 664-2854
Attorneys for Petitioner
Washington State Department
of Natural Resources

I. INTRODUCTION

A company that spends well over a hundred years polluting the State's aquatic lands should not be allowed to shift liability for that pollution to the State's taxpayers. But this is exactly what Division II of the Court of Appeals, in a 2-1 decision, allowed in this case when it found the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) to be an "owner or operator" of aquatic lands at Port Gamble under the Model Toxics Control Act (MTCA). In doing so, the majority opinion splits with Division I precedent defining "operator" liability under RCW 70.105D.020(22), and largely ignores the aquatic lands statutes and article XVII, section 1 of the state constitution, which define whether or not DNR is an "owner" of such lands for purposes of liability under MTCA.

DNR manages approximately 2.6 million acres of state-owned aquatic lands. The Court of Appeals' decision expands DNR's potential liability for hazardous substances on all of these lands. Under the Court of Appeals' opinion, DNR's status as a land manager is sufficient to make it an "owner or operator" under MTCA. This decision has broad ramifications, potentially subjecting the taxpayers to hundreds of millions of dollars in liability for pollution caused by others. Accordingly, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and 13.4(b)(4) because

the decision in this case is in direct conflict with two published Court of Appeals' decisions, and involves an issue of substantial public interest.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the Washington State Department of Natural Resources, an agency of the State of Washington. DNR was the respondent in the Court of Appeals and the defendant in the Kitsap County Superior Court.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

DNR seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division II, decision in *Pope Resources, LP and OPG Properties, LLC v. Washington State Department of Natural Resources*, No. 47861-7-II (filed December 28, 2016). A copy of the decision is in Appendix A.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the trial court correctly determined that DNR is not an "owner or operator" under RCW 70.105D.020 of the Model Toxics Control Act at Port Gamble, and accordingly whether the Court of Appeals erred by reversing that decision.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background.

Port Gamble Bay is located in Kitsap County and encompasses more than two square miles of subtidal and shallow intertidal habitat just

south of the Strait of Juan de Fuca. CP at 266. Port Gamble itself has an extensive history of mill use, going back to well before Washington became a state. *Id.* DNR, as the manager of the State's 2.6 million acres of aquatic lands, is the manager of the state-owned aquatic lands at Port Gamble. *Id.*

In 1853, the Puget Mill Co., which was the predecessor to Pope and Talbot, began operating its sawmill on Port Gamble Bay. *Id.* The mill itself was constructed on fill and pilings, and a long dock extended north of the mill over tidelands to deep water. *Id.*

In 1893, and again in 1913, the State of Washington sold tidelands around the mill site and south of the mill site along the western and eastern shores of Port Gamble Bay to the Puget Mill Co. CP at 266-67, CP at 272-79, CP at 97.

In 1925, the McCormick Lumber Co. acquired Puget Mill Co. holdings in bankruptcy and began to build a new mill. CP at 267. The State did not authorize the wharf or other facilities constructed over aquatic lands at the Site, and it is not clear from DNR records whether or not these facilities even extended onto state-owned aquatic lands. *Id.* In 1938, the McCormick Lumber Co. went bankrupt and its holdings were reacquired by Puget Mill Co. Puget Mill Co. became Pope and Talbot in 1940. *Id.*

The Pope and Talbot mill operated until its closure on November 30, 1995. *Id.* Throughout its history, the Port Gamble Site's uses included a sawmill, log transfer facilities, wood chip loading facilities, log rafting and storage areas, hog fuel boilers, and three landfills located along the western shoreline. *Id.* Pope and Talbot's activities resulted in the release of hazardous substances at the Site. CP at 78.

In 1985, Pope and Talbot spun off its timberland and development properties in Washington and created Pope Resources. CP at 267. Ownership of the uplands and adjacent tidelands at Port Gamble were transferred to Pope Resources at that time. *Id.* In 1998, Pope Resources formed Olympic Property Group (OPG) to manage and develop its real estate holdings. CP at 267, 280.

Mill operations and associated log storage occurred at Port Gamble throughout the Site's history, and well before any authorization by DNR. CP at 148-49, CP at 267. The vast majority of these operations did not occur on state-owned aquatic lands, and the bulk of those that did occur on these lands were done largely without DNR's approval. *Id.* It was not until July 16, 1974, that DNR entered into a bedlands¹ lease with Pope and Talbot covering approximately 72 acres of state-owned aquatic lands for

¹ Beds of navigable water are those lands lying waterward of and below the line of the extreme low tide mark in navigable tidal waters. *See* RCW 79.105.060(2) (defining beds of navigable water). "Bedlands" is used interchangeably with the term "beds of navigable water." WAC 332-30-106(9).

log storage, rafting, and booming. CP at 267-68, CP at 103-06. These activities were already occurring on the Site prior to this lease. CP at 148-49.

Lease No. 10459 was renewed in 1980. CP at 268, CP at 111-14. In 1991, DNR and Pope and Talbot executed Lease No. 20-012795 for the same area previously covered by Lease No. 10459. CP at 268, CP at 116-21. In total, DNR leased the bedlands in the southwestern portion of Port Gamble Bay to Pope and Talbot from 1974 until 1996, when Pope and Talbot requested that DNR cancel its lease. CP at 268. DNR did not authorize Pope and Talbot or its predecessors to use any of the aquatic lands at this Site until 1974. *Id*.

DNR's authorization to Pope and Talbot on the Site was limited to leasing 72 acres in the southwestern portion of the bay, and this authorization only allowed log storage, booming, and rafting, and not any other uses. *Id.* These activities had been going on for a significant period of time, likely decades, in that location prior to any lease with the State. CP at 149. The leases prohibited hazardous, toxic, or harmful substances, and the accumulation of debris.² CP at 113, 119, CP at 268.

² The State also had a sewer outfall lease (No. 9744) with Pope and Talbot. CP at 268. This outfall operates under a permit issued by the Department of Ecology and is not part of the Port Gamble cleanup site. *Id.* CP at 282. Accordingly, it is not material for the purposes of this appeal.

DNR did not control the finances of the facility at Port Gamble, manage the employees of the facility, manage the daily business operations of the facility, or have authority to operate or maintain environmental controls at the facility. CP at 269. DNR did not control Pope and Talbot's decisions regarding compliance with environmental laws or regulations, or Pope and Talbot's decisions regarding the presence of pollutants, and DNR did not authorize the release of any hazardous substances on the Site. *Id.* DNR also had no regulatory authority over the mill operations at the Site, as regulation of the pollution from the mill is primarily under the jurisdiction of the Department of Ecology (Ecology) and its predecessor, the Pollution Control Commission. *Id.*

Based on pollution found at the Site, on May 9, 2007, Ecology sent letters to Pope and Talbot and DNR notifying them that Ecology considered them to be potentially liable persons under MTCA at Port Gamble. CP at 89, 335. Ecology also named Pope Resources and Olympic Property Group (Pope Resources) as potentially liable persons at the Site. CP at 75. Pope and Talbot filed for bankruptcy in 2007. CP at 267.

B. Proceedings Below.

On December 5, 2014, Pope Resources sued DNR in the Kitsap County Superior Court to recover cleanup costs at Port Gamble from the pollution caused by Pope and Talbot. CP at 1-10. Pope Resources

subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment seeking to establish DNR's liability at Port Gamble as an "owner" or "operator" under MTCA. CP at 33.

DNR responded by filing a countermotion to Pope Resources' summary judgment. CP at 229. DNR argued in its countermotion that it was not liable under MTCA as an "owner" or "operator" at Port Gamble because it does not have any ownership interest at the Port Gamble Site, and because it did not exercise sufficient control over Pope and Talbot's polluting operations to be liable as an "operator" under applicable Washington precedent. *Id*.

Kitsap County Superior Court Judge Anna M. Laurie granted summary judgment to DNR, concluding that DNR was not liable as an "owner" or "operator" at Port Gamble under RCW 70.105D.020, and dismissed Pope Resources' suit against DNR with prejudice. CP at 368-70. Pope Resources moved for reconsideration of this decision, which the trial court denied. CP at 382. Pope Resources then sought review from Division II of the Court of Appeals. CP at 384.

On December 28, 2016, the Court of Appeals, in a 2-1 decision, reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment to DNR. *Pope Resources*, slip op. at 1. In its opinion, the majority held that DNR's statutory authority as a land manager makes it liable as an "owner or

operator" under MTCA. *Id.* at 9. The dissent would have affirmed the trial court, concluding that DNR's statutory management authority does not give it any ownership interest in state-owned aquatic lands, and that under applicable Division I precedent, DNR did not exercise sufficient control over the Port Gamble facility to have "operator" liability. *Id.* at 14-19.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest by greatly expanding taxpayer liability under MTCA for contamination caused by the acts of third parties on State-owned land, and is in direct conflict with two published opinions from Division I: *Taliesen Corp. v. Razore Land Co.*, 135 Wn. App. 106, 144 P.3d 1185 (2006), and *Unigard Ins. Co. v. Leven*, 97 Wn. App. 417, 983 P.2d 1155 (1999). This conflict creates significant uncertainty as to the activities that will trigger "owner or operator" liability under MTCA, and this Court should accept review to provide clarity and a uniform standard under RCW 70.105D.020(22).

///

///

///

///

A. This Case Presents a Matter of Substantial Public Interest Because the Court of Appeals' Decision Greatly Expands Taxpayer Liability for Contamination Caused by Others on State-Owned Property.

The Court of Appeals' decision significantly expands taxpayer liability for contamination caused by the acts of third parties on State property, and this decision warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Under this decision, DNR, as the manager of the State's 2.6 million acres of aquatic lands, will likely have liability for all hazardous waste on these lands, regardless of any DNR involvement in the polluting activities, based solely on DNR's management authority. This outcome results from the Court of Appeals' holding that "DNR's authority includes those rights associated with an ownership interest. Accordingly, we hold that the statutory rights conferred on DNR by the legislature amount to 'any ownership interest' in the Site." Pope Resources, slip op. at 9 (emphasis added). This expansion of State taxpayer liability goes against MTCA's purpose to hold polluters responsible, and also undercuts its goal to "raise sufficient funds to cleanup all hazardous waste sites . . ." RCW 70.105D.010.

Washington voters passed MTCA as Initiative 97 in 1988 and modeled it after its federal counterpart, the Comprehensive Environmental

Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA).³ Like CERCLA, MTCA establishes liability based on several categories of liable "persons." Those categories are listed under RCW 70.105D.040(1)(a)-(e) and include current or former owners or operators of a facility, arrangers, transporters, and certain sellers of hazardous substances. *Id*.

Relevant to this Petition, the term "owner or operator" is defined under RCW 70.105D.020(22)(a) as "[a]ny person with any ownership interest in the facility or who exercises any control over the facility." RCW 70.105D.020(22)(a).⁴ The first part of this definition establishes a person's liability as an "owner" of a facility, and the latter establishes a person's "operator" liability. While a state agency can be a liable "person" under MTCA, the State itself cannot. *See* RCW 70.105D.020(24). Liability under MTCA is explicitly joint, strict, and several. *See* RCW 70.105D.040(2).

1. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Disregards DNR's Statutes and the State Constitution to Erroneously Conclude that DNR Has "Any Ownership Interest" in State-Owned Aquatic Lands.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' opinion, DNR does not have *any* ownership interest in state-owned aquatic lands; it is merely a land manager as authorized by the Legislature and can only carry out those

³ CERCLA is codified beginning at 42 U.S.C. § 9601.

 $^{^{\}rm 4}$ A copy of RCW 70.105D.020, along with other relevant statutes, is included in Appendix B.

functions directed by the Legislature. While the majority opinion relies upon common law property ownership concepts, as well as a dictionary definition of "manage" to conclude that DNR has an "ownership interest" in the State's aquatic lands, this analysis disregards the explicit statutory authority under which DNR functions. *Pope Resources*, slip op. at 8-10. ⁵ Indeed, the dissent correctly concludes that "DNR, a state agency, is in fact the manager of the aquatic land but does not have an ownership interest in the facility." *Pope Resources*, slip op. at 16.

The State's ownership of its aquatic lands is a fundamental sovereign interest. *See Idaho v. Coeur d'Alene Tribe*, 521 U.S. 261, 283, 117 S. Ct. 2028, 138 L. Ed. 2d 438 (1997). This ownership right is declared in the state constitution, wherein Washington:

asserts its ownership to the beds and shores of all navigable waters in the state up to and including the line of ordinary high tide, in the waters where the tide ebbs and flows, and up to and including the line of ordinary high water within the banks of all navigable rivers and lakes. Const. art. XVII, § 1.

Under RCW 79.105.010, the Legislature "recognizes that the state owns these aquatic lands in fee and has delegated to the department the responsibility to manage these lands for the benefit of the public." (Emphasis added.) See also RCW 79.105.060(20) (State-owned aquatic

⁵ The Court of Appeals also cites to a house bill report as persuasive authority. *Id.* at 8, n.3. However, the bill associated with this report, HB 2623, was not an amendment to either MTCA or DNR's aquatic lands statutes, and was never passed by the Legislature. *See* HB 2623, 56th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2000).

lands are "tidelands, shorelands, harbor areas, the beds of navigable waters, and waterways owned by the state and administered by the department... [and] does not include aquatic lands owned in fee by, or withdrawn for the use of, state agencies other than the department.") (emphasis added); and RCW 79.105.020 (the aquatic lands statutes "articulate a management philosophy to guide the exercise of the state's ownership interest and the exercise of the department's management authority..."). Based on this unambiguous statutory language, DNR does not have any ownership interest in the State's aquatic lands; it only manages them.

The Court of Appeals' opinion disregards these statutes to conclude that DNR's management authority gives it an ownership interest in state-owned aquatic lands. *Pope Resources*, slip. op. at 9. However, DNR, as a creature of statute, "has only those powers either expressly granted or necessarily implied by the legislature." *Skagit Surveyors & Eng'rs, LLC v. Friends of Skagit Cnty.*, 135 Wn.2d 542, 558, 958 P.2d 962 (1998). Had the Legislature wanted to give DNR an ownership interest in state-owned aquatic lands, it would have explicitly done so.

///

///

///

2. The Court of Appeals' Analysis of RCW 70.105D.020 Fails to Give Effect to MTCA's Intent to Exempt the State Itself from Liability.

It is undisputed that the State itself cannot be a liable "person" for the purposes of hazardous waste liability under MTCA. *See* RCW 70.105D.020(24). Indeed, Pope Resources conceded before the trial court that "the State of Washington cannot be liable under MTCA." CP at 308. Despite MTCA's unambiguous intent to exempt the State itself from liability, the Court of Appeals' holding that DNR's statutory authority to manage aquatic lands gives rise to liability under MTCA eliminates this exemption. *See Pope Resources*, slip op. at 9. In fact, it is hard to imagine state-owned lands that are not under the management authority of an agency.

The facts of this case illustrate the problem of holding DNR responsible for the polluting acts of a third party based on its statutory authority to manage the State's aquatic lands. Pope and Talbot, and its predecessors, conducted mill operations on the Site, including log booming, storage, and rafting, for a significant period of time before entering into a lease. CP at 267. Moreover, log booming, storage, and rafting took place in the location of the eventual lease area for decades before DNR's lease with Pope and Talbot. CP at 149. The lease terms

prohibited the release of hazardous substances and the accumulation of debris. CP at 103-06, CP at 111-14, CP at 116-21.

The Court of Appeals' decision penalizes DNR for attempting to get environmental compliance from a polluter using state property. This same logic would also attach hazardous waste liability to any other DNR management activity on the State's aquatic lands, regardless of any connection to pollution. This consequence of the Court of Appeals' decision is broad-reaching and supports review by this Court.

3. The Court of Appeals' Analysis Improperly Eliminates the Distinction Between "Owner" and "Operator" Liability Under RCW 70.105D.020(22).

Taken together, MTCA's definitions provide that a state agency can be liable as an "owner or operator" of a facility where that agency either has "any ownership interest in the facility" or where that state agency "exercises any control over the facility." RCW 70.105D.020(22)(a) (emphasis added). The former language establishes "ownership" liability, while the latter establishes the standard for "operator" liability at a site and focuses on a state agency's involvement in the polluting activity.

As the dissent notes, "[a]lthough the majority does not distinguish between the terms owner and operator, the plain language of the statute at issue clearly differentiates between the two." *Pope Resources*, slip op.

at 15. Courts in this state have recognized that "owner" and "operator" liability are two separate categories under MTCA. See, e.g., Unigard, 97 Wn. App. at 428, n.27. The Court of Appeals' merging of these two concepts creates a significant amount of ambiguity that warrants this Court's review.

B. This Court Should Accept Review Because the Court of Appeals' Opinion Conflicts with *Taliesen* and *Unigard*, Which Adopted the Federal Standard for Operator Liability Under *U.S. v. Bestfoods*.

In addition to the reasons discussed above, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with two published opinions from Division I: *Taliesen* and *Unigard*. This split leads to uncertainty for every property owner or manager in the State, as there are now two inconsistent tests for determining operator liability under MTCA. The Court should correct this disparity.

Division I in both *Taliesen* and *Unigard* adopted the federal test of *United States v. Bestfoods*, 524 U.S. 51, 118 S. Ct. 1876, 141 L. Ed. 2d 43 (1998), and applied that test to evaluate operator liability under MTCA. *See Taliesen Corp.*, 135 Wn. App. at 128; *see also Unigard*, 97 Wn. App. at 429. In *Taliesen*, Division I considered the difference between MTCA's

and CERCLA's operator provisions, and then adopted the federal standard. In *Taliesen*, two of the liable parties argued that:

The Act [MTCA] imposes liability on any person who has "any control" over a facility. [former] RCW 70.105D.020(12)(a). Golder and Razore propose that the Legislature's use of the word "any" shows an intent for a broader sweep of operator liability under the State Act than under the federal Act. Razore argues that since Murphy obviously had physical control over the drilling equipment, Murphy fits within the statutory definition of having "any control" over a facility.

Taliesen, 135 Wn. App. at 126.

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