# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Feb 24, 2017, 4:01 pm

### RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 94084-3

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES,

Petitioner,

v.

POPE RESOURCES, LP and OPG PROPERTIES, LLC,

Respondents.

### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David J. Ubaldi, WSBA #30180 Robert E. Miller, WSBA #46507 Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for Pope Resources, LP and OPG Properties, LLC

777 108th Ave NE, Suite 2300 Bellevue, WA 98004 (425) 646-6100 Phone (425) 646-6199 Fax

#

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

DNR argues the Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4), claiming that the Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest and conflicts with two Division I decisions. In reality, the Court of Appeals merely confirmed the status quo, and its decision aligns with existing case law. PR/OPG addresses DNR's arguments under corresponding headings below.

# A. RAP 13.4(b)(4) – This Case Does Not Present a Matter of Substantial Public Interest in Need of Review.

In its Petition, DNR repeatedly states its "public interest" argument as follows: "[T]he Court of Appeals' decision greatly expands taxpayer liability for contamination caused by the acts of third parties on Stateowned property." DNR's Pet., at 9 (see also pages 1, 8, and 17). There are at least three misleading and fundamentally flawed propositions built into this unsupported assertion.

First, the decision does not expand the liability of DNR or any other state agency. Ecology identified DNR as a PLP ten years ago, so its liability at the Site does not come as a surprise. Moreover, Ecology has alleged for decades that DNR is liable as an "owner or operator" at many similar sites around the State and has entered into settlements with DNR to resolve its liability at those sites. Ecology has made it clear by continuing to pursue and settle with DNR that it relies on DNR's liability as an "owner or operator" to "raise sufficient funds" for cleanup, which is MTCA's core goal. RCW 70.105D.010. In fact, Ecology submitted an amicus brief at the Court of Appeals to express its disagreement with DNR's unsupported interpretation of MTCA.<sup>2</sup>

Importantly, the Legislature knows and accepts that DNR faces liability under MTCA. DNR has settled its MTCA liability at other sites, and the Legislature has appropriated money for settlements. Nearly two decades ago, House analysis of a proposed bill stated: "[DNR] is a potentially liable party . . . on behalf of the state because it owns or manages the contaminated sites on state-owned aquatic lands." House Bill Analysis, HB 2623, at 2 (Jan. 28, 2000). As the Court of Appeals noted, DNR has even admitted internally that it is liable for at least part of this Site. Slip

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals properly deferred to Ecology's interpretation, as the law requires courts to give substantial weight to an agency's interpretation of the statutes it administers. Slip Opinion, at 12 (citations omitted).

Opinion, at 3. Thus, the Court of Appeals merely confirmed how Ecology, the Legislature, *and* DNR have interpreted MTCA since its enactment, and the alleged "expansion" of liability is illusory.

Second, DNR's "taxpayer liability" argument relies on the presumption that public entities should be treated differently than private parties under MTCA. But MTCA says exactly the opposite. MTCA defines a "person" who may be liable to include a "state government agency," with no distinction between such agencies and corporations or municipalities. RCW 70.105D.020(24). Moreover, this Court has acknowledged that, in order to accomplish MTCA's broad purpose, "[1]imited state funds are raised for [MTCA] clean up projects through a tax on hazardous waste, but for the most part, clean up is paid for and performed by those public or private entities identified by Ecology as 'potentially liable persons.'" Asarco Inc. v. Dep't of Ecology, 145 Wn.2d 750, 754, 43 P.3d 471 amended on denial of reconsideration, 49 P.3d 128 (Wash. 2002) (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

Also, DNR's concern for the "taxpayers" is a smoke screen in view of the income DNR generates by directly authorizing polluting activity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> DNR ignores *PacifiCorp Environmental Remediation Co. v. Washington Department of Transportation*, 162 Wn. App. 627, 259 P.3d 1115 (2011), but effectively asks the Court to overrule that case. There, Division II held the Department of Transportation liable under MTCA under the same standard as a private party. Thus, Washington courts have confirmed what is unmistakable from MTCA's plain language; courts must treat public agencies the same as private parties under MTCA.

Like any private landowner, DNR sets lease terms and rates, chooses its tenants, and uses lease proceeds to fund its management operations. *See* RCW 79.105.210(4); RCW 79.64.040.<sup>4</sup> DNR can (and does) require tenants to indemnify it for environmental exposure, and like any other landlord, DNR takes the risk that its tenant will become insolvent. *See* CP 120. DNR also saves operating expenses by refusing to allocate resources necessary to oversee its tenants and prevent pollution. DNR's "public interest" argument that its MTCA liability falls directly to the "taxpayers" is therefore factually inaccurate and disingenuous.

And Third, DNR suggests that its "liability for contamination caused by the acts of third parties" presents a public interest concern, but the plain language of the statute resolves that concern. By expressly imposing "strict" liability, MTCA's drafters unequivocally determined that "causation" is not a relevant policy consideration at the liability phase. RCW 70.105D.040(2). A court may not second guess that determination. <sup>5</sup> As explained below, however, DNR may invoke certain defenses to liability for contamination caused by third parties when it has exercised proper care. Moreover, at the allocation phase, DNR may argue that its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In 2015, DNR produced more than \$313 million in revenue, including more than \$30 million from aquatic lands leases, while receiving approximately \$20 million total from the state general fund. See DNR 2015 Annual Report, at 8, 11, available at http://file.dnr.wa.gov/publications/emannualreport15 pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Under DNR's argument, PR/OPG also would not be liable, as it never conducted contaminating operations at the Site.

share of liability should be small or nonexistent because "causation" is a relevant equitable factor.

# 1. DNR Has an Ownership Interest in the Aquatic Lands Pursuant to its Statutory Management Authority.

DNR argues that the "Court of Appeals' opinion disregards DNR's statutes and the state constitution to erroneously conclude that DNR has 'any ownership interest' in state-owned aquatic lands." DNR's Pet. at 10, Section VI.A.1. In fact, the Court of Appeals' decision reasonably interprets those provisions in conjunction with MTCA. DNR's entire argument hinges on RCW 79.105.010, which establishes that the State owns aquatic lands in "fee" and "has delegated to [DNR] the responsibility to manage these lands for the benefit of the public." DNR argues that the Court of Appeals erred by relying on common law property ownership concepts to interpret the phrase "ownership interest" and relying on the dictionary definition of the undefined statutory term "manage." DNR's Pet. at 11. Yet DNR does not suggest an alternative approach or articulate how the Court of Appeals' approach led to error.

In actuality, the Court of Appeals thoroughly evaluated the nature of DNR's statutory authority—and the specific management acts of DNR at the Site—to conclude that DNR has an "ownership interest":

Here, DNR undisputedly has statutory authority to manage the aquatic lands within the Site. See RCW 79.105.010.

DNR has exercised its right to manage at the Site by leasing the aquatic lands, excluding others from the aquatic lands, and controlling the allowed uses on the aquatic lands.

Slip Opinion at 9. As a result, DNR's arguments fail because "[t]he plain language of MTCA does not limit liability to persons with an ownership interest in fee simple. Rather, the plain language provides that a person legally having some of the 'bundle of rights' to use, manage, or possess the property is liable." *Id.* at 8 (emphasis added).

Additionally, Ecology has repeatedly and directly rejected DNR's argument that its statutory "management authority" falls short of *any* ownership interest. In fact, in letters notifying DNR of its PLP status, Ecology stated: "In accordance with RCW 79.105.060(20), **DNR is** directed by law to administer aquatic lands owned by the State of Washington. As such, DNR is the owner of a "facility" as defined in [MTCA]." CP 340, 346 (emphasis added); *see also* CP 46-48; 192-212.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, DNR's attempt to disclaim ownership falls flat when the agency "has referred to itself as the owner of the Site" repeatedly. Slip Opinion, at 3 (citing examples). DNR touts its ownership interest when it wants to exert the rights of an owner, but DNR disclaims its ownership interest when faced with unwanted responsibility.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Moreover DNR is not the first state agency to make this argument and fail. Statutes establish a similar relationship between the Department of Transportation (DOT) and "the State." See RCW

2. The Court of Appeals' Analysis of RCW 70.105D.020 Properly Recognizes that State Government Agencies May be Liable.

Next, DNR argues that the "Court of Appeals' analysis of RCW 70.105D.020 fails to give effect to MTCA's intent to exempt the State itself from liability." DNR's Pet., at 13, Section VI.A.2. DNR's arguments are logically irreconcilable. First, DNR claims the Court of Appeals erred by failing to distinguish it from "the State" in applying MTCA's definition of "owner." But DNR then claims the Court of Appeals erred by failing to consider it the functional equivalent of "the State" in applying MTCA's definition of "person."

In truth, this position, like DNR's prior position, is flatly contradicted by the statute. MTCA's definition of "person" does not include "the State," but it does include a "state government agency." The Court of Appeals therefore recognized that the simple question in this case is whether DNR, as a state agency, has any ownership interest or exercised any control over the Site. Yet DNR argues that the Court of Appeals should have looked past what the statute actually says and instead enforced what the statute does *not* say.

<sup>47.01.260 (</sup>providing that the State has the right, title, and interest to state highways, while DOT "operat[es] and maintain[s] state highways"). In the *PacifiCorp* case, DOT argued it cannot be liable under MTCA because "[DOT] is not the owner of that property; the State of Washington is." App.'s Reply at 18, *PacifiCorp Envtl. Remediation Co., et al. v. WSDOT*, No. 39699-8-II (Wash Ct. App., July 2, 2010). The trial court rejected that argument. The Court of Appeals did not specifically evaluate DOT's "owner or operator" liability, but stated that DOT's argument against "owner" liability "fail[ed]." *See PacifiCorp*, 162 Wn. App. at 662.

DNR cites no support whatsoever for its contention that the absence of "the State" from the definition of "person" was intended to exempt state agencies from liability for managing state-owned land. And this contention is unsustainable in view of the statute's broad definition of "owner or operator," which clearly encompasses such management activities and explicitly applies to state agencies. As DNR notes, "it is hard to imagine state-owned lands that are not under the management authority of an agency." DNR's Pet., at 13. The result is that Ecology and private parties must seek recovery from the responsible state agency—as they have for decades—instead of suing "the State" and seeking recovery from the state general fund. The result is *not*, as DNR argues, to absolve state agencies of liability so long as "the State" holds fee title, even when the agency itself fits within one of MTCA's categories of liable persons. Such an interpretation ignores the plain language and context of MTCA's broad liability scheme, which courts must "liberally construe." Slip Opinion, at 5 (quoting RCW 70.105D.910).

DNR claims that this case "illustrate[s] the problem of holding DNR responsible" because it "penalizes DNR for attempting to get compliance from a polluter." DNR's Pet., at 13-14. This could hardly be further from the truth. For one, DNR's finger pointing at P&T is an equitable argument, which as the Court of Appeals recognized, "conflates

the threshold determination of liability under MTCA with the final apportionment of the extent of liability." *See* Slip Opinion, at 13.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals' decision properly incentivizes pollution prevention, while DNR's position rewards acquiescence. DNR argues that it can be liable only if it is actively involved in environmental decision making at the facility (which it was in any event), but that it cannot be liable for simply standing by and allowing the pollution.

If DNR were correct, it could allow and profit from pollution with impunity. But by imposing liability on *any* entity with an ownership interest or who exercises control, as MTCA requires, the Court of Appeals' decision incentivizes those in a position to prevent contamination to act.

# 3. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied MTCA's "Owner or Operator" Definition as Written.

DNR next argues that the "Court of Appeals' analysis improperly eliminates the distinction between 'owner' and 'operator' liability under RCW 70.105D.020(22)." DNR's Pet., at 14, Section VI.A.3. Once again, DNR complains that the Court of Appeals applied MTCA's plain language instead of re-writing as DNR would prefer. The statute establishes five categories of liable persons: (1) the current "owner or operator"; (2) one who formerly "owned or operated" at the time of a release; (3) one who

arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances; (4) a transporter of hazardous substances; and (5) certain sellers of hazardous substances. RCW 70.105D.040(1). Moreover, the statute defines "owner or operator" jointly to mean any "person with any ownership interest in the facility or who exercises any control over the facility." RCW 70.105D.020(22). Thus, while the statute defines other terms separately, the drafters chose to define "owner or operator" status as a single category of liability. DNR's argument to the contrary relies on a single case that did not implicate any "ownership interest." *See* DNR's Pet. At 15. Nothing in that or any other decision supports ignoring the plain language of the statute when, as here, the facts implicate the full "owner or operator" definition.

B. RAP 13.4(b)(2) – There is No Conflict Between this Decision and Distinguishable Cases Where Federal Law Has Been Used for Guidance.

DNR argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Taliesen Corp. v. Razore Land Co., 135 Wn. App. 106, 144 P.3d 1185 (2006) and Unigard Ins. Co. v. Leven, 97 Wn. App. 417, 983 P.2d 1155 (1999), as amended (Apr. 24, 2000), but neither case "adopted" the federal test for "operator" liability as DNR claims.

First, DNR faults the Court of Appeals for not applying the CERCLA "operator" standard without ever acknowledging that CERCLA's "owner or operator" definition differs substantially from

MTCA's. In fact, CERCLA defines "owner or operator" tautologically as "any person owning or operating such facility," 42 U.S.C.

§ 9601(20)(A)(ii), while MTCA's broad definition extends to those "with any ownership interest" or who "exercise any control."

RCW 70.105D.040(1). Once again, DNR believes the Court of Appeals should have ignored the actual language of MTCA.

Moreover, there is no conflict in need of this Court's attention.

In *Taliesen*, Division I considered whether a subcontractor was liable as an "operator" for drilling a hole into an underground oil storage tank.

135 Wn. App. at 125. The court held that the subcontractor was not liable because it had no authority to decide where to drill or whether to stop drilling. *Id.* at 125-26. The court looked to federal cases as persuasive authority where liability "depend[ed] upon authority to control decisions about how to dispose of waste, not mere physical control over the instrumentality that causes disposal or release." *Id.* at 127. The court held that it was not "mechanical" control that makes one liable as an "owner or operator" under MTCA, but control "in the decision-making sense." *Id.* at 128. Division I did not "adopt" the federal standard as controlling law, but merely consulted federal law as persuasive in a highly distinguishable scenario. Here, "decision-making" control is precisely what DNR

possesses and has exercised over the Site. There is therefore no inconsistency between *Taliesen* and Division II's decision here.<sup>7</sup>

# C. DNR's Backwards Incentive Argument Has No Basis in Reality.

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